

This is an amendment to 5.100.7 NMAC, Sections 3, 6, 7, 8, 10, 13 and 15 effective 12/11/2018.

5.100.7.3 **STATUTORY AUTHORITY:** Section 9-25-1 et seq. NMSA 1978, Section 21-1-26 NMSA 1978 and Section 21-23-1 et seq. NMSA 1978. The Post-Secondary Educational Institution Act, Sections 21-23-1 et seq. NMSA 1978 authorizes the New Mexico higher education department (“Department”) to establish standards and oversight for licensed private post-secondary institutions under the act while operating in New Mexico. [5.100.7.3 NMAC - N, 12/26/2017; A, 12/11/2018]

5.100.7.6 **[OBJECTIVES AND GENERAL PRINCIPLES] OBJECTIVE:**

A. Each private post-secondary institution operating with a physical presence in New Mexico shall be subject to provisions of the (“the act”) unless expressly exempted by the department.

(1) Engaging in one or more of the following activities constitutes a physical presence in New Mexico:

(a) ongoing occupation of a physical location in the state;

(b) maintenance of an administrative office to support the provision of higher education instruction;

(c) establishing a physical location for instruction which is synchronous (instruction in which a group of students engage in learning at the same time) or asynchronous (instruction that does not occur in the same place or at the same time);

(d) requiring students to physically meet in a location for instructional purposes more than twice per full-term (quarter or semester) course for a total of more than six hours;

(e) establishing an administrative office;

(f) providing student support services to enrolled students, from a physical site operated by or on behalf of the institution in the state;

(g) obtaining office space for instructional or non-instructional staff;

(h) maintaining a mailing address or phone exchange in New Mexico;

(i) holding proctored exams on behalf of the institution in New Mexico more than twice per full-term (quarter or semester); or

(j) facilitating student participation in off-campus field trips in New Mexico for academic purposes in excess of 20 classroom hours in one six-month period or in which the institution establishes a residential or instructional facility in New Mexico.

(2) The following is a non-exhaustive list of activities, which if conducted by the institution, will not trigger a physical presence in New Mexico:

(a) advertising to students whether through print, billboard, direct mail, internet, radio, television or other medium;

(b) maintaining a server, router or similar electronic service device housed in a facility that otherwise would not constitute physical presence (the presence of a server or similar pass-through switching device does not by itself constitute the offering of a course or program in that state);

(c) having faculty, adjunct faculty, mentors, tutors, recruiters or other academic personnel residing in New Mexico and working from their homes or another private, non-institutional site, provided that such staff is not engaged in activities that would otherwise constitute physical presence;

(d) using recruiters in New Mexico if the recruiter has registered as an agent pursuant to Section 21-24-1 through Section 21-21-9 NMSA 1978;

(e) independent off-campus study or research by students including, independent fieldwork for a thesis or dissertation, by individual students not engaged in a supervised field experience under 5.99.1 NMAC and with no supervision or control by the student’s institution; or

(f) facilitating student participation in off-campus field trips in New Mexico for academic purposes, so long as the field trip does not exceed more than 20 classroom hours in one six-month period, or the establishment of a residential or instructional facility by the institution in New Mexico.

B. Every private career school or nonregionally accredited college or university operating with a physical presence in New Mexico shall annually license with the department.

C. A private career school or nonregionally accredited college or university with a physical presence in the state deemed by the department to satisfactorily meet ~~[satisfactory]~~ criteria, as determined by the department, will be licensed with the state. A career school or nonregionally accredited college or university that has successfully licensed with the ~~[state]~~ department shall be considered to hold state authorization.

D. An institution shall provide the department with immediate written notification of any changes or events that may trigger the whole or part of the application or the certifications to be untrue. In no case shall a change be made without an acknowledgement from the department. An institution shall provide the department with notification in no less than 90 days prior to the proposed changes going in effect.

E. The department is statutorily charged with evaluating each individual institution in order to determine the institution's compliance with the standards outlined in this regulation. This evaluation may take the form of a physical visit to the institution or administrative office or may be a desk audit if a physical visit is not feasible. It is the responsibility of the institution to maintain full compliance with the Post-Secondary Educational Institution Act, Sections 21-23-1 through 21-23-15 NMSA 1978 and all applicable rules at all times. The following four types of site visits may be conducted by the department as means to determine the institution's compliance with the standards outlined in the regulation:

(1) Initial site visit: In making a determination regarding issuance of a new license, a site review may be conducted during the initial start-up phase to determine the adequacy of items included on the application for licensure. This visit is for information gathering purposes only.

(2) Regular site visit: The department shall determine an appropriate schedule (typically on a bi-annual basis) on which to re-evaluate each individual licensed institution and the specific programs offered by that institution in order to determine continued compliance with this rule. Department staff will give prior notification of at least two weeks of the date and time of the visit. A short exit interview will be held at the conclusion of the visit. This exit interview may include a discussion of findings and a final written site visit report will be sent to the school for review and comment. The outcome of the regular site visit may be continued licensure.

(3) Required special site visit: The department may request a required special site visit as a requirement for initial licensure, probation, or for licensure renewal. At the conclusion of a required special site visit, the exit interview may include a discussion of any findings.

(4) Triggered site visit: any occurrence listed below trigger a site visit to the institution in order to evaluate compliance with standard within this regulation. The exit interview may include a discussion of any findings. The outcome of a triggered site visit may be a recommendation for a provisional license or revocation of a license:

- (a) an institution involuntarily loses its accreditation status;
- (b) the department is notified of an institution's non-compliance with federal financial aid program regulations or the outcome of an audit from another state agency;
- (c) the institution fails to renew its surety bond, or appropriate alternative in a timely manner;
- (d) an institution is experiencing financial difficulties sufficient to threaten program quality;
- (e) an institution has significant staff turnover;
- (f) an institution fails to immediately notify the department of a change in ownership/management; or
- (g) the department becomes aware of any other factor that could alter basis for licensure.

F. A career school or nonregionally accredited college or university that does not have state authorization or has not been granted express exemption by the department, and meets the definition of physical presence in New Mexico, shall be notified by certified mail that it shall cease immediately offering instruction or enrolling new students until it obtains state authorization or exemption from the department; the department shall initiate appropriate legal action if an institution fails to comply; whoever violates any provision of Section 21-23-1 et seq. NMSA 1978 of the Post-Secondary Educational Institution Act may be assessed a civil penalty not to exceed five hundred dollars (\$500) per day per violation.

G. No person other than an employee of an institution licensed pursuant to this rule shall, for a salary or fee, solicit attendance at that institution.

H. Licensed institutions concurrently offering distance education pursuant to 5.99.1 NMAC as a SARA institution, through distance education authorization, or through any other method detailed in Section 5.99.1.10 NMAC:

(1) shall be subject to complaint procedures detailed in 5.99.1 NMAC, as related only to students enrolled exclusively as distance education students; and
(2) shall be subject to 5.99.2 NMAC, if the institution seeks to close, cease program offerings that contain enrolled students, or substantially relocate as defined in 5.99.2 NMAC, as related only to students enrolled exclusively as distance education students.
[5.100.7.6 NMAC - N, 12/26/2017; A, 12/11/2018]

5.100.7.7 DEFINITIONS:

A. “Accreditation” means a verified accreditation status with an accrediting agency recognized by the United States department of education that accredits institutions, as a means of assuring quality instruction.

B. “Career school” means a private post-secondary educational institution offering a formal educational curriculum in New Mexico for a fee to members of the general public beyond compulsory school age, terminating in a certificate, diploma, associate degree, or comparable confirmation of completion of the curriculum.

C. “College” or “university” means a private post-secondary educational institution offering a formal educational curriculum in New Mexico for a fee to members of the general public beyond compulsory school age, terminating in a baccalaureate degree, master's degree, or doctoral degree or comparable confirmation of completion of the curriculum.

D. “Continuing education” means only brief courses of instruction designed to teach specific skills that may be applicable in a work setting but are not sufficient in themselves to be considered a program of training for employment. Typically, a student only enrolls for one course rather than a sequence of courses. The continuing education units must meet the criteria set out by the professional organization or authority requiring the continuing education.

E. “Cooling off period” means at least three work days from the date of agreement or payment or from the date that the student first visits the institution, whichever is later.

F. “Credit hour” means an institution's count of the amount of work represented in the intended learning outcomes and verified by evidence of student achievement, proof of commonly-accepted industry practices or consistent with the federal definition of the credit hour.

G. “Degree” means any title, designation, mark, abbreviation, appellation, or series of letters or words, including “associate”, “bachelor's”, “master's”, “doctor's” and their equivalents, which are generally taken to signify satisfactory completion of the requirements of a program of study designed to be comparable to those provided by institutions accredited by agencies recognized by the United States department of education.

H. “Department” means the New Mexico higher education department or its designated employee.

I. “Enrollment Agreement” means any agreement, instrument or note executed before a student begins course work which creates a binding obligation between the student and the institution.

J. ~~“Exception”~~, “Exemption”, or “Exempt” means a written acknowledgment by the department that an institution, organization, or other entity, has met requirements and filed pertinent information as required by the department to provide educational services in New Mexico, and is not subject to the ~~[post-secondary educational institution act]~~ Post-Secondary Educational Institution Act.

K. “Institution” means a career school or nonregionally accredited college or university.

L. “License”, “Licensed”, or “Licensure” means a written acknowledgment by the department that a career school or nonregionally accredited college or university has met the requirements of the department ~~[for offering]~~ to offer a formal educational curriculum within New Mexico.

M. “Manager” or “Managers” means the chief executive officer, chief operations officer, chief financial officer, senior business or finance officer, senior financial aid administrator, and senior or chief academic officer of a New Mexico private post-secondary educational institution.

N. “Management plan of action” means a plan that has been developed, reviewed and implemented by managers of the institution which details specific steps the institution will commit to taking in order to remediate an identified weakness, shortcoming or insufficiency.

O. “Owner” or “Ownership” means all individuals or entities that have any ownership interest in the institution.

P. “Physical presence” means the ongoing occupation of a physical location in the state ~~[for]~~, ~~[or]~~ the ongoing maintenance of an administrative office to support the provision of higher education instruction, or engaging in one or more of the activities detailed in Paragraph 1 of Subsection A of 5.100.7.6 NMAC.

Q. “Post-secondary educational institution” or “post-secondary institution” means an academic, vocational, technical, business, professional, or other school, college, or university or other organization or person offering or purporting to offer courses, instruction, training, or education.

R. “Regional accreditation” means a verified accreditation status with an accrediting agency recognized by the United States department of education that accredits degree granting institutions operating in a designated geographic region.

S. “Registration” or “Registered” means a written acknowledgment by the department that a regionally accredited college or university has filed pertinent curriculum and enrollment information, as required by the department, and is authorized to operate ~~[a private post-secondary educational institution]~~ and offer a formal educational curriculum within New Mexico.

T. “Review Committee” means a committee established by the department pursuant to 5.100.7.11 NMAC.

U. “State Authorization” means a ~~private~~ post-secondary educational institution has been deemed by the department to ~~satisfactorily~~ meet ~~[satisfactory]~~ criteria, as determined by the department, for registration or licensure under the ~~[post-secondary educational institution act]~~ Post-Secondary Educational Institution Act. All degree-granting institutions seeking state authorization shall be accredited or be seeking appropriate external accreditation. State authorization ~~[is not an endorsement of the institution by the department]~~ does not serve as an endorsement of a particular institution, but confirms that an institution has met the minimum criteria set by the department to operate in New Mexico.

V. “Work day” means a week day, Monday through Friday that is not recognized as a federal holiday.
[5.100.7.7 NMAC - N, 12/26/2017; A, 12/11/2018]

5.100.7.8 GENERAL STANDARDS FOR LICENSURE:

A. An institution seeking state authorization through licensure must submit a complete application and all supporting documentation as described in 5.100.7.10 NMAC. The department shall create application forms for institutions to apply for licensure.

B. A branch campus that operates under the accreditation of a primary New Mexico campus is not considered a separate institution for purposes of state authorization. To be considered a branch campus the institution shall meet the following criteria:

- (1) it has the same ownership, financial management or control as that of the primary New Mexico campus;
- (2) it operates under the accreditation of the primary New Mexico campus;
- (3) it is not considered a separate institution for the purpose of accreditation;
- (4) the primary New Mexico campus has previously operated as a state authorized and accredited institution in New Mexico; and
- (5) it is a secondary physical presence by the same institution in New Mexico.

C. An institution licensed by the department shall adopt the student complaint procedure, as defined in Subsection Q of 5.100.7.10 NMAC, for the resolution of student complaints.

D. As a condition of licensure, all institutions shall agree to comply with surety bond requirements as defined in Subsection O of 5.100.7.10 NMAC.

E. As a condition of licensure, all institutions shall agree to comply with Section 21-23-15 NMSA 1978 and 5.100.8 NMAC and applicable rules and regulations in the event of institutional closure.

F. An institution that has been granted state authorization through licensure must submit an annual report, as requested by the department. The department may require separate annual reporting submissions for each branch or location of an institution authorized under a single license. The department shall promulgate a standard reporting form for licensure to include: enrollment, program completion by students, and employment and other educational placements of students.

[5.100.7.8 NMAC - N, 12/26/2017; A, 12/11/2018]

5.100.7.10 APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS: The institution must provide complete and accurate information to the department. The department may request additional supporting documentation. Upon request of the department, the applicant must supply any missing or requested information to the department. An applicant must respond to the department within deadlines set by the department. The department application will require institutions to supply information described in Subsections A through W of 5.100.7.10 NMAC:

A. Evaluation plan: The plan shall include measures of institutional success. The institution shall provide a plan for evaluation of the following:

- (1) the satisfaction of its graduates and shall make available to the department all reports of these satisfaction assessments prepared during the past five years;

- (2) a written plan for keeping courses current;
- (3) a written plan for faculty improvement in terms of content knowledge and relevant instructional techniques and the use of new and applicable technologies to support instruction; and
- (4) if the institution is subject to the Student-Right-to-Know Act, it shall provide the department with copies of all reports submitted to the federal agency.

B. Tuition policy: Tuition and fee charges shall be the same for all students admitted to a given program for a given term of instruction. An institution may not discount its tuition and fees charged to individual students as an incentive for quick enrollment or early payment. An institution may negotiate special rates with business, industrial, governmental, or similar groups for group training programs and may establish special rates for students who transfer between programs. An institution may charge a reasonable carrying fee associated with deferred payments or payment plans. All tuition and fees must be comprehensively listed in the institution's catalog as required in Subsection G of 5.100.7.10 NMAC.

C. Tuition refund policy: An institution licensed by the department shall adhere to the following tuition refund policy:

(1) An institution accredited by agencies recognized by the United States department of education shall adhere to the tuition refund schedule established by the institution's accrediting body or the United States department of education. If an institution is required to adopt such refund schedule, it is required to provide proof of adoption and a copy of the refund schedule policy from either the accreditor or the United States department of education.

(2) If an institution is not required to adopt a refund schedule policy by an accreditor or the United States department of education, the following refund schedule policy set out by the department shall be adopted:

Date of student withdrawal as a % of the enrollment period for which the student was obligated	Portion of tuition and fees obligated and paid that are eligible to be retained by the institution
On 1st class day	0%
After 1st day; within 10%	10%
After 10%; within 25%	50%
After 25%; within 50%	75%
50% or thereafter	100%

(3) Any student signing an enrollment agreement or making an initial deposit or payment toward tuition and fees of the institution shall be entitled to a cooling off period as defined in 5.100.7.7 NMAC. During the cooling off period the agreement can be withdrawn and all payments shall be refunded. Evidence of personal appearance at the institution or deposit of a written statement of withdrawal for delivery by mail or other means shall be deemed as meeting the terms of the cooling off period.

(4) Following the cooling off period, but prior to the beginning of instruction, a student may withdraw from enrollment, effective upon personal appearance at the institution or deposit of a written statement of withdrawal for delivery by mail or other means, and the institution shall be entitled to retain no more than \$100 or five percent in tuition or fees, whichever is less, as the institution's registration charges.

(5) In the case of students enrolling for non-traditional instruction, a student may withdraw from enrollment following the cooling off period, prior to submission by the student of any lesson materials and effective upon deposit of a written statement of withdrawal for delivery by mail or other means, and the institution shall be entitled to retain no more than \$100 or five percent in tuition or fees, whichever is less, as the institution's registration charges or an alternative amount that the institution can demonstrate to have been expended in preparation for that particular student's enrollment.

(6) Upon request by a student or by the department, the institution shall provide an accounting for such amounts retained under this standard within five work days.

D. Record maintenance and retention policy: Each private career school or non-regionally accredited college or university licensed by the department shall provide a records maintenance and retention plan. The plan shall consist of a records maintenance and disposal schedule that ~~[follows the minimum retention schedule set out and published by the department]~~ is in compliance with the functional records retention and disposition schedule in 1.21.2 NMAC, the records retention schedule set by the department, regulations of any other authorizing agency, or laws, regulations, and rules of any other authorizing jurisdiction or territory, whichever is longest in time. If another authorizing agency of the institution requires a longer period of retention than that of 1.21.2 NMAC, the longest retention period shall prevail. The plan must include a description of how records will be maintained in the event of

closure, which includes, but is not limited to, designation of a custodian of records, digitization, and a process for obtaining transcripts from the custodian of record.

E. Materials and information: The department shall regulate the use of deceptive and misleading materials and information. An institution shall not disseminate material or information that is deceptive, misleading or untrue. The institution shall certify compliance with all laws and regulations related to materials and information. The department may request copies of publications, advertisements, agreements, marketing collateral, or contracts in order to regulate the use of deceptive and misleading information. All materials and information shall comply with the following requirements:

(1) Representation of accreditation and state authorization status:
(a) An institution may not make claims to or advertise an accreditation status if the accrediting agency is not recognized by the United States department of education.

(b) An institution not accredited by a United States department of education recognized accreditor shall clearly state that the institution is not accredited.

(c) An institution licensed by the department may not use terms such as "accredited," "endorsed," or "recommended" in reference to its approval by the department.

(2) Enrollment agreement: Before a student begins coursework at an institution, the institution shall execute an enrollment agreement with the student. An enrollment agreement will be binding only when it has been fully completed, signed, and dated by the student and authorized institution representative prior to the beginning of instruction. The institution shall retain the original enrollment agreement and a copy shall be delivered to the student at the time of execution or by mail when the enrollment is solicited by mail. A copy of the blank agreement or contract shall be submitted to the department. Each enrollment contract or agreement shall include at least the following:

(a) information that will clearly and completely define the terms of the agreement between the student and the school;

(b) names and addresses of the school and the student;

(c) the program or course title in which the student is enrolling and the applicable catalog date or version reference;

(d) the program start date and estimated end date;

(e) the number of hours or units of instruction;

(f) the school's cancellation and refund policies;

(g) an itemization of all charges, fees and required purchases being incurred by the student or their sponsor in order to complete the training, e.g., tuition, books, supplies and all other items of expense required by the school;

(h) the method of payment and payment schedule being established; and

(i) when applicable, a statement detailing the institution's academic placement policy.

(3) Advertising, marketing, promotional materials and recruitment: All advertisements and promotional literature must be truthful regarding the content of an institution's educational program(s), the duration of the program(s), student attributes and skills needed for successful completion of the program(s), and costs of the program(s). An institution shall use no advertisements or promotional materials that are false, deceptive, inaccurate, or misleading. Materials must comply with all of the following requirements:

(a) Advertisements and promotional literature shall not contain promises of job placement or employment, either explicitly or implicitly, but may refer to an institution's services to assist students in obtaining employment.

(b) Advertisements shall clearly indicate by their content and location in media that the institution is offering education or training and may not either explicitly or implicitly suggest that the institution is offering employment.

(c) An institution advertising salary ranges or averages for its graduates must have on file and available to inspection by students, the department, or their representatives current and accurate data that includes New Mexico employers and that validates such claims.

(d) An institution shall not advertise the transferability of its courses or programs to another institution unless it has signed transfer or articulation agreements with that institution.

(e) An institution shall not include in its advertising or promotional materials any photograph or other illustration of facilities unless those facilities serve predominantly as sites of instruction or related activities provided by the institution, either in New Mexico or in other states. Photographs or other illustrations must accurately depict the size and condition of any facilities or equipment illustrated.

(f) No person shall for a fee solicit enrollment at an institution who is not employed by and under supervision of the institution. The institution shall be responsible for the representations of its employees.

(g) Prospective students shall not be solicited by any representative of an institution on the sites of any government agency such as motor vehicle division offices, unemployment offices, or public assistance offices. However, leaflets or other promotional material may be made available at such sites.

(h) Prospective students shall not be solicited by any representative of an institution on the site of any public school, except at the invitation of school personnel. No institution shall offer or provide financial inducement to any public school in return for permission to solicit students.

(i) No institution shall solicit the enrollment of any student who is currently attending another institution in New Mexico by using any inducement of greater financial assistance in meeting the costs of education.

(j) On all materials, an institution shall use the full name in which it is licensed and list any other names in which the institution holds other government approvals. Permutations of its name, e.g., initials, or shortened name or nicknames, cannot be employed without prior written permission of the department.

(k) On all materials, the name of an institution shall not be misleading.

F. Name of the institution: The department reserves the right to deny licensure to an institution proposing to operate under a name that the department determines to be misleading or so similar to that of another institution operating within the state that it may result in substantial confusion. Institution names must comply with each of the following regulations:

(1) institutions including the term "college" in their name must offer at least an associate degree and enroll a substantial portion of their students in such degree programs; and

(2) institutions including the term "university" in their name must offer graduate degree programs and must enroll a preponderance of their students in baccalaureate and graduate degree programs.

G. Information provided to students: Information shall be provided to students prior to their signing an enrollment agreement and the institution shall make reasonable effort to assure and verify that each student understands their academic and financial obligations prior to enrolling in the institution. An institution shall publish and make available to all students a catalog or other materials that clearly describe:

(1) accurate representation of accreditation and state authorization status as described in Paragraph 1 of Subsection E of 5.100.7.10 NMAC;

(2) admission policies and procedures that provide criteria and methods used to assess and admit or deny admission;

(3) admission methods and criteria used to assess student ability to complete program requirement;

(4) programs offered, the program completion requirements of each program offered, and descriptions of all courses offered;

(5) requirements for those occupations that require professional or trade licensure and for which the institution is offering preparation;

(6) tuition and fees and refund policies, consistent with the requirements in 5.100.7 NMAC;

(7) types of financial aid available to students and the procedure for applying for such aid;

(8) the institution's policy regarding program or course cancellations;

(9) rules and regulations pertaining to academic progress;

(10) rules and regulations pertaining to student conduct;

(11) the procedure to be followed in the instance that a student decides to withdraw from the institution prior to completing a program;

(12) the institution's policy regarding student complaints and the resources available to students for resolving differences with the institution. The institution must adopt the student complaint process established by the department and published by the department; and

(13) the institution's policy regarding release of transcripts.

H. Financial aid: Prior to a student signing a financial aid agreement, each student must be informed in writing regarding his or her obligations associated with receipt of financial aid and the institution must take reasonable steps to assure that the student understands that obligation. The institution shall provide financial aid resources to students.

I. Proof of teach-out agreement: Each institution shall submit a teach-out plan or agreement.

(1) An institution must submit ~~[proof]~~ proof of a teach-out agreement with at least one other private or public institution operating in the state or provide a teach-out plan that allows students to complete their

program of study at the institution within a timeframe accepted by the department. Proof of such teach-out agreement(s) with another institution must be submitted to the department. The teach-out plan or agreement must address the ability of students to complete programs within a reasonable proximity to the physical location of the institution and shall be arranged at no additional cost to the students beyond that originally agreed to by the students.

(2) The department may determine that a teach-out plan or agreement is not feasible after consideration of evidence submitted to the department. The department may find that teach-out arrangements are not feasible for students in one or more programs offered by the institution, in which case the institution shall plan to refund all tuition and fees paid by the students in question for the current period of enrollment and shall plan to provide appropriate transcripts and evaluations to assist students in transferring their work to another institution.

(3) A teach-out plan or agreement shall be evaluated and updated by the institution annually upon submitting a license renewal application. If an institution closes or has a substantial change in location, the institution is subject to 5.100.8 NMAC. If the teach-out plan or agreement presented to the department during application for licensure becomes impossible or is no longer feasible due to institutional changes, the plan must be updated and submitted to the department within 90 days of the change.

J. Adoption of degree standards: Institutions accredited by a recognized United States department of education accreditor shall adopt degree standards governed by their accrediting body. Any non-accredited degree granting institution shall adopt the following degree standards for each credential as listed below:

(1) Associate degree program:

(a) associate degree programs must include both technical or vocational and general education instruction. Associate degree programs shall consist of 60 credit hours of study or the equivalent;

(b) associate of applied science degrees, associate of occupational studies degrees or comparable appellations must be based upon the institution's certification that the recipient is prepared for immediate employment in a specified career field and must be comprised primarily of technical or vocational study; and

(c) associate of arts or associate of science degrees must be based upon the institution's certification that the recipient is prepared both for immediate employment in a specified career field and transfer to another institution for more advanced study; associate of arts and associate of science degree programs will normally consist of approximately equal numbers of technical or vocational and general education courses.

(2) Baccalaureate degree programs:

(a) baccalaureate degree programs must be comparable in quality to those offered by institutions operating in New Mexico that are accredited by agencies recognized by the United States department of education as authorities regarding the quality of such degree programs; award of degrees must be based upon the institution's certification that the recipient has met standards of performance and competency comparable to the standards of institutions so accredited; and

(b) at a minimum, issuance of a baccalaureate degree shall require 120 credit ~~hour~~ hours or the equivalent; the degree program must include 30 credit hours of general education core requirements.

(3) Master's degree programs:

(a) master's degree programs must be comparable in quality to those offered by institutions operating in New Mexico that are accredited by agencies recognized by the United States department of education as authorities regarding the quality of such degree programs; award of degrees must be based upon the institution's certification that the recipient has met standards of performance and competency comparable to the standards of institutions so accredited; and

(b) at a minimum, issuance of a master's degree shall require 30 credit hours of academic credit or the equivalent beyond a baccalaureate degree.

(4) Doctoral degree programs:

(a) at a minimum, issuance of a doctoral degree shall require 90 credit hours of academic credit or the equivalent beyond a baccalaureate degree or 60 credit hours or the equivalent beyond the master's degree and shall require successful completion and defense of a major independent project, involving original research or application of knowledge. The research component shall provide no more than thirty percent of the degree credit requirement;

(b) research or project committees composed of no fewer than three qualified readers shall review the project at various stages of development; documentation shall be provided to support this requirement. The final version of the research or project shall be accompanied by the original signature of each committee member; and

(c) the institution shall maintain a copy of the final report of the research or project and make it available upon request.

(5) Honorary degree or certificate: Licensed, private degree-granting institutions may issue honorary degrees or certificates. An honorary degree or certificate shall identify in its title or name that it is an honorary degree or certificate and shall bear such on its face.

(6) Credit for life experience: If an institution offers academic credit for life experience or employment related experience, the institution must have and adhere to the following requirements:

(a) applicable life experience shall be limited to work experience, military experience or a combination of the two;

(b) no more than 30 percent of the credit in a student's degree program may be awarded for life or work experience;

(c) the institution shall utilize the methodologies outlined by the council for adult and experimental learning (CAEL) for evaluating life experience or shall have in place a comparable plan which describes procedures and requirements for the assessment of experiential learning;

(d) the institution shall maintain documentation for at least three years of all materials used to assess and award credit for experiential learning;

(e) the institution shall clearly indicate on the student degree plan the course(s) for which the experiential learning is being substituted;

(f) the institution shall evaluate extra-institutional learning only in subject areas in which it has or can arrange for faculty expertise or where it can rely on nationally validated examinations or other procedures for establishing credit equivalencies; and

(g) no life experience credit shall be awarded toward the doctorate degree beyond master's level study.

K. Accreditation:

(1) Accredited institutions shall be governed by their accrediting agencies in establishing degree and program standards. Accredited institutions shall submit:

(a) formal documentation from the accreditor listing all approved campuses, degrees and programs; and

(b) written notification of any changes related to accreditation.

(2) Institutions proposing to change or add programs must formally notify the department. If the change or addition of the program requires the accreditor's approval, the institution must provide written proof of the approval. If the change or addition does not require approval by the accreditor, the institution shall provide proof that the accreditor was notified of the change or addition. The department shall review proposed changes. The department may review proposed changes on a set schedule defined by the department and charge an administrative fee for the processing of such requests. Upon final review, the department will provide a formal acknowledgment of the approved new degrees and programs. The institution may begin to advertise the program based on the department's letter of acknowledgement. The complete list of programs offered by an institution will be listed on the license issued to the institution.

L. Accreditation for new degree-granting institutions or degree-granting institution seeking accreditation: New degree-granting institutions making application with the department will be required to obtain accreditation with an accrediting agency recognized by the United States department of education within two years of submitting the initial application. Non-accredited degree-granting institutions must submit a written accreditation plan, which shall include:

(1) the United States department of education recognized accrediting agency with which the applicant intends to apply for institutional accreditation;

(2) the planned timeline for application with and approval by the United States department of education recognized accrediting agency;

(3) any contracts already made with the United States department of education recognized accrediting agency, including supporting documents;

(4) certification that the institution will complete the accreditation process within the planned timeline provided to the department;

(5) submit all documents as required for non-accredited non-degree granting institutions; and

(6) any additional information which the department may request.

M. Non-accredited non-degree granting institutions: Applications for non-accredited non-degree granting institutions shall be evaluated by a department review committee described in 5.100.7.11 NMAC. A new non-accredited non-degree granting institution applying for licensure will be approved to offer no more than six degree programs during the first two years of operation. Non-accredited non-degree granting institutions shall submit the following for review:

(1) Institution curriculum requirements: For each program and course of instruction offered by an institution, the institution shall submit:

(a) program outline, syllabus and curriculum materials that accurately describe the objectives, content, and methods of the program or course;

(b) objectives, content, and methods of each program and course of instruction which demonstrate curriculum quality;

(c) details of equipment and facilities utilized by a program which shall be sufficient for the number of students using them, and shall be applicable to the objectives set for the program; and

(d) a report that demonstrates that each program is designed to provide training for an occupation that is recognized in New Mexico and that the training provided is sufficient in length and quality to prepare students for immediate employment in the occupation(s) or prepare students to complete licensing assessments.

(2) Faculty qualifications: The institution must demonstrate the following:

(a) each member of the teaching faculty has an educational background, including licensure or occupational or credential, and experience applicable to teaching assignments;

(b) faculty degrees, licensure, certification, and credentials are in the applicable field of instruction unless the institution demonstrates to the satisfaction of the department and review committee, on an individual basis, that alternative qualifications are sufficient;

(c) for degree-granting institutions faculty must hold degrees in the field of instruction from an accredited institution at a minimum of one degree level higher than the level of instruction, and in no case less than a baccalaureate unless the institution demonstrates to the satisfaction of the department that alternative qualifications are sufficient;

(d) for degree-granting institutions no more than twenty percent of the faculty of an institution may be employed under alternative qualifications;

(e) for each proposed credential offering, the institution employs at least one faculty member with the applicable training who shall have the responsibility for providing oversight of the instructional program; and

(f) faculty are sufficient in number to provide instruction and attention to the work of students of the institution.

(3) Student outcomes: New institutions submitting first time application shall provide a plan for tracking program completion rates, withdrawal rates and satisfaction of students, and employers. Institutions renewing application with the department must submit required reporting for program completion rates, withdrawal rates, and satisfaction of students and employers.

(4) Non-accredited non-degree institutions proposing to change existing programs or add new degree programs to their curriculum shall submit application on a form acceptable to the department, for review committee approval prior to marketing the program and enrolling students in the proposed program.

N. Maintenance of records certification: Each institution must submit a certification of compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations that govern records management for closed ~~[institution]~~ institutions.

O. Surety bond: Each institution licensed by the department shall maintain in force a surety bond or alternative surety accepted by the department, in an amount set by the department, and payable to the department. The institution must have and adhere to the following requirements:

(1) the amount of the bond or alternative surety shall be sufficient to indemnify any student damaged as a result of fraud or misrepresentation by a licensed institution or as a result of the institution ceasing operation prior to its students having completed the programs for which they have contracted. If a licensed institution closes, the department may draw upon the bond to pay costs associated with preservation of student records. The bond must also meet the following criteria:

(a) the bond required for each institution shall be twenty percent of the institution's projected or actual gross annual tuition and fee revenue in New Mexico, which takes into consideration the size, number of students and total income and assets of an institution. In no case shall the bond be less than \$5,000; and

(b) bonds provided by institutions must be accompanied by the name, office address and phone number of the issuing company representative.

(2) If an institution seeks to cancel a surety bond, written notice must be delivered to the department. The institution may not cancel the surety bond until provided with written release by the department. The institution shall provide the department with a like surety or acceptable alternative in order to maintain licensure.

(3) Alternative forms of surety: An institution may request a waiver from the bond requirement and provide to the department an explanation of the alternative form for which they are seeking approval. The department has the authority to accept or reject any request. Such alternative may be a cash deposit escrow account, irrevocable letter of credit, or similar alternative payable to the department in the amount equal to the bond requirement.

P. Proof of financial stability: Standards for reviewing and analyzing financial stability are a critical component of the institution's overall assessment. The institution's financial stability will be reviewed by the department to assess the institution's ability to meet financial obligations including, but not limited to, obligations to enrolled students. In determining financial stability of the institution the department shall review the following requirements:

(1) Insurance: Institutions licensed by the department shall maintain valid standard, commercial liability insurance, worker's compensation insurance, and property insurance sufficient to protect students, employees, and other citizens from hazards in the institution's facilities. Where applicable, institutions shall have liability insurance covering students involved in internships at sites and locations other than the institution.

(2) Financial statement analysis: The department shall consider an institution's financial history when reviewing an application for licensure. In the case where an institution submits an audit report and management letter provided by a certified public accountant, the department shall normally accept the report as accurate and rely on the auditor's professional responsibility to evaluate and to make known their professional opinion.

(3) New institutions not previously operating in any capacity in any state or jurisdiction shall demonstrate liquid assets sufficient to operate the institution for a period of one year exclusive of anticipated revenue from tuition and fees. These assets shall be sufficient to pay all projected salary and benefits of employees and the rent, utilities, insurance and other costs of operating the institution's facilities for a period of one year. If an institution has audited financials available for the year prior to that of the application, such audited financials shall be submitted for review. Any new institution shall submit the following:

(a) bank statements, investor agreements, any other financial documents or gifts used to develop the institution;

(b) the institution's projected income statement certified as accurate by the institution. The income statement must include details of projected salaries and benefits of employees, rent, utilities, insurance, any financial obligations made by the institution, and any other operating costs; and

(c) any additional information which the department may request.

(4) Existing institutions: If an institution has previously operated in any capacity in any jurisdiction, it must submit documents based on the following thresholds:

(a) An institution with seven hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$750,000) or more in gross annual tuition revenue and all federal Title IV financial aid institutions shall submit, on a schedule set by the department, an audit report and management letter prepared by a certified public accountant in accordance with the New Mexico Public Accountancy Act, Section 61-28B-1 et seq. NMSA 1978 as amended. If the institution has been required to obtain a financial responsibility composite score as computed using the latest version of the United States department of education index score formula it shall provide the score to the department. The financial responsibility composite score must be 1.5 or above as computed using the latest version of the United States department of education index score formula. The composite score must be calculated by the United States department of education, a recognized accreditor, or a certified public accountant contracted at the expense of the institution.

(b) An institution with gross annual tuition revenue of two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000) or more but less than seven hundred forty nine thousand nine hundred ninety-nine dollars (\$749,999) shall submit, on a schedule set by the department, either an audit report and management letter prepared by a certified public accountant in accordance with the New Mexico Public Accountancy Act, Section 61-28B-1 et seq. NMSA 1978 as amended or a review of financial statements prepared by a certified public accountant in accordance with the New Mexico Public Accountancy Act. If the institution has been required to obtain a financial responsibility composite score as computed using the latest version of the United States department of education index score formula it shall provide the score to the department. The financial responsibility composite score must be 1.5 or above as computed using the latest version of the United States department of education index score formula. The composite score must be calculated by the United States department of education, a recognized accreditor, or a certified public accountant contracted at the expense of the institution.

(c) An institution with gross annual tuition revenue of less than two hundred forty nine thousand nine hundred ninety-nine dollars (\$249,999) shall submit on a schedule set by the department either an audit report and management letter prepared by a certified public accountant in accordance with the New Mexico Public Accountancy Act, 61-28B-1 et seq. NMSA 1978 as amended, a review of financial statements prepared by a certified public accountant in accordance with the New Mexico Public Accountancy Act, or an income statement and balance sheet certified as accurate by the institution. In addition to the audit report and management letter, the review of financial statements, or the income statement and balance sheet as described in this paragraph, the institution shall submit copies of business tax returns and bank statements for the most current year. If the institution has been required to obtain a financial responsibility composite score as computed using the latest version of the United States department of education index score formula it shall provide the score to the department. The financial responsibility composite score must be 1.5 or above as computed using the latest version of the United States department of education index score formula. The composite score must be calculated by the United States department of education, a recognized accreditor, or a certified public accountant contracted at the expense of the institution.

(5) Failure to satisfactorily meet financial requirements: If considerable concern is established as to the institution's ability to maintain its operation, department staff may contact the school to request additional information regarding the institution's financial picture. If concerns are not addressed through the additional information provided to the department, a department financial analyst may conduct a second financial review. If after the second review, substantial doubt remains about the institution's ability to continue, the department may contract for further independent review of the records. All costs associated with contracting a third party independent reviewer will be charged to the institution. Following review and based on the determination of the department

(a) the institution may be authorized for operation; or
(b) the institution may be placed on probationary status and required to submit a management plan of action; and
(c) the department may report the failure to satisfactorily meet financial requirements to the United States department of education and the institution's accreditor. If the issue is not resolved, the department may take action to forward the file to the attorney general's office for issuance of a notice of contemplated action to deny licensure.

Q. Procedure for resolution of student complaints: An institution shall provide proof of an adopted complaint procedure that complies with the minimum requirements set by the department. The institution shall have and make available to all students, the adopted complaint procedure that describes, in detail, how students or other parties may register a complaint or grievance, how the institution will investigate the complaint, and how the institution will attempt to resolve the complaint. Such policies shall at a minimum include the following components:

(1) requirement that students or other parties with complaints or grievances against an institution first seek to resolve their complaint or grievance directly with the institution;
(2) a time frame within which the institution will investigate the complaint and respond to the complainant;
(3) assurance of the involvement of a person who will serve as an impartial representative of the institution but not be directly involved in the area of the complaint;
(4) assurance that no adverse action will be taken against the complainant for registering the complaint; and
(5) identification of the higher education department as the agency to be contacted in cases where a complaint cannot be resolved.

R. Student Services: The institution shall certify that it will provide the following:
(1) Financial aid counseling: Institutions offering financial aid to students shall provide adequate personnel qualified to administer the financial aid programs according to the regulations of all applicable agencies;

(2) Academic counseling and progress: Institutions shall provide adequate counseling for students regarding their academic progress. An institution shall have a clear policy and procedure for assessing the progress of students toward their program objectives and to inform student of progress. Students shall receive warning when their academic status is at risk and shall be given clear information about their academic status and whatever actions are needed to maintain satisfactory progress. The institution shall have a policy for terminating enrollment in manner that minimizes the financial cost to the student, when the student fails to meet the standards

for academic progress. Records of the institution, including individual student records, shall reflect consistent application of such policy and procedure. The institution's catalog and other publications shall clearly inform students about the institution's standards for academic progress and any academic counseling and support services available to students.

(3) Employment counseling and placement: Institutions shall provide services that assist students in locating and qualifying for employment opportunities. Employment counseling and placement services must be provided at no additional charge to students. No institution shall be expected to provide employment counseling and placement services beyond providing academic and financial aid transcripts for more than one year following a student's receipt of a diploma, certificate, or degree, except by such policy of the institution. An institution offering placement services for its students and graduates shall maintain records listing, for each student who has been assisted, each placement conference held with the student and each placement contact made in behalf of the student.

S. Records standards and access:

(1) Transcript standards: An institution shall prepare for students a transcript of record. A sample transcript shall be submitted and include at minimum the following:

- (a) designation of the program(s) of study for which the student has been enrolled;
- (b) each course completed by the student and the grade or other indication of performance assigned; and
- (c) a dated statement of completion of the program and award of any certificate, diploma, or degree earned by the student.

(2) The method by which students and graduates may obtain transcripts and financial aid documents and applicable fees shall be described clearly in the institution's catalog or in other documents provided to students. All documents with reference to the method for obtaining transcripts and financial aid documents and fees must be submitted to the department for review.

(3) The institution shall certify that an official student file will be kept for each student and include at a minimum the following:

- (a) admission application and enrollment agreement;
- (b) official transcripts indicating qualification for admission;
- (c) when applicable actual test and scores from an ability-to-benefit assessment;
- (d) grades received (up-dated transcript);
- (e) all obligations incurred and all funds paid by the student to the institution;
- (f) student attendance information;
- (g) academic counseling and employment counseling records; and
- (h) financial aid records.

T. Academic support resources: The institution shall provide or otherwise assist students in gaining access to learning resources needed for completion of their programs, including library materials, laboratories, facilities, equipment and materials, and relevant experiences needed to meet program requirements. No institution shall absolve itself from this requirement solely by referring students to the resources of other private or public institutions or facilities, except by written agreement with such institutions or facilities. The institution will certify that:

- (1) students have access to learning resources;
- (2) ~~that~~ resources are adequate to support the programs;
- (3) students are adequately informed about learning resources available to them and how to access such resources and services;
- (4) training is made available for accessing learning resources;
- (5) resources are delivered within a reasonable period of time;
- (6) the facilities have satisfactorily met all applicable health and fire inspections; and
- (7) compliance with regulations pursuant to the American with Disabilities Act (ADA).

U. Admission policy: Each institution shall adopt an admission policy that includes the following standards:

(1) No student shall begin a certificate or diploma program who has not received a high school diploma or the equivalent or who has not demonstrated ability to benefit from the program through a process of assessment that meets standards of the United States department of education or the department or who is participating in a concurrent enrollment program with a secondary school.

(2) Institutions enrolling students who are of compulsory school age or who are concurrently attending an elementary or secondary school shall have in their possession a signature or other written acknowledgement by elementary or secondary officials and by the student's parent or guardian.

(3) Institutions using an ability-to-benefit admission option shall provide the department with a clear and detailed statement describing their ability-to-benefit assessment programs (including cut off scores and validity data for any test used) and shall be able to demonstrate that ability-to-benefit assessment is performed in a consistent and valid manner.

(4) No student shall be admitted to an associate degree or baccalaureate degree program who has not received a high school diploma or the equivalent.

(5) No student shall be admitted to a graduate degree program who has not received a baccalaureate degree from an institution accredited by an agency recognized by the United States department of education, or received a baccalaureate degree from a non-accredited institution licensed by the department or by the cognizant state agency in another state, or qualified in an alternative manner approved by the department.

V. Cooperation: The institution shall provide copies of valid certificates from other federal, state and municipal agencies, and any other higher education authorities as proof of compliance with applicable bodies. At minimum the application submission must include:

(1) a copy of the notification of good standing and ability to do business in New Mexico issued by the New Mexico secretary of state's office;

(2) a copy of the New Mexico taxation and revenue department registration;

(3) as applicable, a copy of the national council of state authorization reciprocity agreements (NC-SARA) welcome letter;

(4) as applicable, a list and copy of authorizations granted by other jurisdictions;

(5) as applicable, a list and copy of authorizations granted by other New Mexico boards, commission or agencies.

W. Ownership and administration: The institution shall provide the department with information about ownership, owners, and managers. An institution shall notify the department in writing within 10 working days whenever the institution changes ownership, whenever there is a change in control of the institution, or whenever changes are made to managers. No institution will be licensed in the state of New Mexico without completion certifications required by the department. Any changes or events that may trigger any certification to be untrue, must be immediately reported to the department, and shall be reported in no less than 10 working days.

(1) The institution shall provide a list of principal owners and provide a list of managers.

(2) The institution shall certify that no owner of the institution has:

(a) been convicted of or has pled no contest or guilty to a crime involving abuse of public funds;

(b) been convicted of or has pled no contest or guilty to a crime of dishonesty or felony within the last five years;

(c) controlled or managed an institution that has ceased operation during the past five years without providing for the completion of programs by its students; ~~and~~ or

(d) filed bankruptcy associated with the operation of an educational institution during the past five years.

(3) The institution shall certify that no manager of the institution has:

(a) been convicted of or has pled no contest or guilty to a crime involving abuse of public funds;

(b) been convicted of or has pled no contest or guilty to a crime of dishonesty or felony within the last five years;

(c) controlled or managed an institution that has ceased operation during the past five years without providing for the completion of programs by its students; ~~and~~ or

(d) filed bankruptcy associated with the operation of an educational institution during the past five years.

(4) The institution shall certify it:

(a) has not filed bankruptcy during the past five years;

(b) is not under the ownership of any person who has filed bankruptcy associated with the operation of an educational institution during the past five years;

(c) is not managed by any person who has filed bankruptcy associated with the operation of an educational institution during the past five years;

(d) has not been found to be operating illegally in another state for a least five years.

[5.100.7.10 NMAC - N, 12/26/2017; A, 12/11/2018]

5.100.7.13 APPLICABLE FEES:

A. The department shall assess application, administrative, and licensing fees, pursuant to Section 21-23-6.3 NMSA 1978, and publish a fee schedule.

B. The department shall assess an administrative fee for providing the services associated with application review and determination of eligibility for licensure.

C. The department shall assess a licensing fee upon determination that the institution has satisfactorily met all ~~[satisfactory]~~ conditions for licensure.

D. The department shall assess an administrative fee for filing annual reporting; any costs associated with review committee evaluation and determination; any costs associated with specialized review, program changes, and institution or administrative changes.

[5.100.7.13 NMAC - N, 12/26/2017; A, 12/11/2018]

5.100.7.15 SITE VISITS AND RECORDS INSPECTION: The department may conduct a site visit at any time to evaluate institutional compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The department may request documents or access to files to evaluate compliance. The department may request inspection of the institution's records, which must follow the records management plan set out by the institution as required in Subsection D of 5.100.7.10 NMAC ~~[and comply with the retention schedule set by the department]~~. Records that must be maintained and available for inspection are as follows:

A. official student transcripts;
B. records related to development of courses including, but not limited to, outlines and syllabi; and
C. records related to student enrollment, original version of enrollment agreements, student class registration and withdrawals,

D. list of current students;
E. list of dropped or withdrawn students;
F. list of students that have graduated;
G. catalogs of the institution plus any additional documentation that defines student policies. The institution shall maintain an archive of catalog versions for the period of time applicable to enrollment agreements for current students;

H. records related to marketing and recruitment, including but not limited to, samples of advertising including online pages;

I. records related to examination and testing including, but not limited to, grade results;

J. records related to academic programs, including, but not limited to, analyses of academic program completion rates, student transfer rates, or employment rates for graduates of the institution and membership and minutes for academic committees;

K. records related to higher education programs;

L. documentation of accrediting reports and self-study reports submitted to accrediting bodies for institutions accredited or seeking accreditation;

M. records related to faculty and staff qualifications, including, but not limited to, the results of periodic student and peer or supervisor assessment of teaching, original official transcripts of record sent directly to the hiring institution from institutions issuing the faculty member a degree and applicable license or certification demonstrating the educational qualifications of the faculty member, documentation of applicable experience for faculty members with alternative qualifications, and a separate file available for review containing documentation regarding all complaints lodged against the faculty member;

N. records related to student evaluations, discipline, assessments and attendance;

O. student complaint files;

P. evidence of the institution's valid insurance policies and surety bond or alternative surety;

Q. records related to scholarships, loans, grants and other financial aid; and

R. records related to financial stability.

[5.100.7.15 NMAC - N, 12/26/2017; A, 12/11/2018]